A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Rolando Reyes, the appellant below, asks this Court to 

review the following Court of Appeals decision. 

B. COJJRT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Reyes seeks review of Division Three's published decision in hu:e 

the Detention of Reyes, _ Wn. App. _, 309 P.3d 745 (slip op. filed 

September 19, 2013), attached as an appendix. Division Three held that 

violation of the public trial requirement under Wash. Canst. article 1, section 

10,1 in an involuntary commitment proceeding does not constitute structural 

error requiring automatic reversal, and that Reyes lacked standing to raise 

the claim on behalf of the public. 

C. ISSI TES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether involuntary civil commitment proceedings, which 

can result in a significant deprivation of liberty, warrant the protection of 

public scrutiny equivalent to that afforded criminal trials under article 1, 

section 22,2 such that violation of the public trial doctrine under article 1, 

section 1 0 constitutes structural error. 

1 Wash. Const. article I, section 10 provides: "Justice in all cases shall be administered 
openly, and without unnecessary delay." 

2 Wash. Const. article I, section 22 provides: "In criminal prosecutions the accused shall 
have the right to ... have a speedy public trial ... " 
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2. Whether the appellant to a civil commitment order may rely 

on third party standing to challenge to the closure of the courtroom in 

violation of article 1, section 10, for the first time on appeal. 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In March 2004, the State filed a petition to have Reyes indefinitely 

committed under Chapter 71.09 RCW (2004 petition). CP 3. Thereafter, 

while being held at McNeil Island's Special Commitment Center (SCC) 

for evaluation, Reyes engaged in conduct resulting in two convictions for 

custodial assault with sexual motivation. CP 3-4, 43-44. Reyes was 

sentenced to concurrent 36-month terms and the 2004 petition was 

dismissed without prejudice. CP 4, 46. 

Two days prior to Reyes's scheduled release on the assault 

convictions in January 2008, the State re-filed its Chapter 71.09 RCW 

petition (the 2008 petition). CP 1-2, 4. 

Because Reyes has a severe brain injury, the court appointed a 

Guardian Ad Litem (GAL). CP 286-87. The GAL moved to dismiss the 

State's petition for lack of jurisdiction, which was denied. CP 58-78; IRP3 

16-17. The hearing was held in the trial judge's chambers, with counsel 

for the State appearing telephonically. lRP 2-21. The hearing was 

3 There are three volumes of verbatim report of proceedings referenced as follows: lRP-
5/22/09 and 6/1/09; 2RP- 6/2/09 and 6/3/09; and 3RP- 614109 and 6/5/09. 
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reported, but there is no record of a motion to hold the hearing in 

chambers, nor any record of the court conducting the required procedures 

for closing the proceedings. There is no indication that Reyes, the GAL or 

Reyes' attorney objected to the closed proceeding. It is also unclear 

whether Reyes was present for the hearing. 

Following a bench trial, the trial judge found Reyes met the criteria 

for commitment under Chapter 71.09 RCW beyond a reasonable doubt, 

and ordered him held indefinitely at the SCC. 3RP 561-65. 

On appeal, Reyes argued the in-chambers hearing on his motion to 

dismiss violated his right to a public trial under article 1, section 10. The 

Comi of Appeals agreed the trial court erred in holding a closed hearing 

without first applying the five factors outlined in Seattle Times Co v 

Ishikawa, 97 Wn.2d 30,37-39. 640 P.2d 716 (1982).4 Appendix at 25-26. 

4 The five Ishikawa factors are: 

1. The proponent of closure ... must make some showing [of a 
compelling interest], and where that need is based on a right other than 
an accused's right to a fair trial, the proponent must show a "serious and 
imminent threat" to that right. 2. Anyone present when the closure 
motion is made must be given an opportunity to object to the closure. 3. 
The proposed method for curtailing open access must be the least 
restrictive means available for protecting the threatened interests. 4. 
The court must weigh the competing interests of the proponent of 
closure and the public. 5. The order must be no broader in its 
application or duration than necessary to serve its purpose. 

State v Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 258-599, 906 P.2d 325 ( 1995) (quoting Alljed Daily 
Newspapers v Eikenberry, 121 Wn.2d 205,210-1 L 848 P.2d 1258 (1993)). 

-3-



It refused to reverse the indefinite commitment order, however, 

concluding Reyes did not show actual prejudice arising from the improper 

closure. Appendix at 26-29. 

The court specifically rejected Reyes's claim that the improper 

closure constituted structural error for which prejudice should be 

presumed. The court reasoned that because the commitment order was the 

result of a civil proceeding, the concepts of structural error and presumed 

prejudice simply did not apply. Appendix at 28. 

The court also opined Reyes lacked standing to assert the general 

public's article 1, section 10 rights, at least in part because he could not 

show actual prejudice. Appendix at 29-32. Having already concluded 

structural error did not apply to article 1, section 10 violations, and that 

Reyes could not meet the criteria under RAP 2.5(a)(3) to raise the 

challenge for the first time on appeal, however, the third party standing 

discussion was not necessary to the decision and therefore is dicta. 5 

5 Se.e In re Marria~e of Roth, 72 Wn. App. 566, 570, 865 P.2d 43 (1994) ("Dicta is 
language not necessary to the decision in a particular case."). Dicta have no precedential 
value. Bauer v State Employment Sec Dept, 126 Wn. App. 468, 475 n.3, 108 P.3d 
1240 (2005). 
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E. ARGI IMENT WHY REVIEW SHOT II .D BE ACCEPTED 

THIS CASE INVOLVES A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION UNDER 
ARTICLE 1, SECTION 10 OF THE STATE CONSTITUTION 
AND AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT 
THIS COURT SHOULD RESOLVE. 

1. Should violation of the public trial requirement 
constitnte stmctural error in the context of an appeal 
from an involuntary civil commitment order such that 
automatic reversal is required? 

Article I, section 10 of the Washington Constitution provides that 

"[j]ustice in all cases shall be administered openly, and without unnecessary 

delay." This Court recognized the importance of the public trial right in 

ensuring the fair administration of justice most recently in State v Wise, 176 

Wash.2d 1, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012). Specifically, the Court cited to that 

portion of Presley v Georgia, 558 U.S. 209, 130 S. Ct. 721, 724, 175 

L.Ed.2d 675 (2010), that recognized that the benefits arising from public 

judicial proceedings are to the defendant in a criminal proceeding. 176 

Wn.2d at 116 (citing Presley, 130 S.Ct. at 724). Those benefits include 

helping to assure a fair trial by allowing "the public to see justice done, 

and it serves to hold the justice system accountable." J&J.se. 176 Wn.2d at 

17. 

This Court has also recognized that the benefits that accrue to 

criminal proceedings via the public trial doctrine are also applicable to 

civil proceedings. See Bennett v Smith Bunday Berman Britton_ PS, 176 
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Wn.2d 303, 291 P.3d 886 (2013)6 and In re Detention of D F F, 172 

Wn.2d 37, 256 P.3d 357 (2011).7 '"Essentially, the public-trial guarantee 

embodies a view of human nature, true as a general rule, that judges, 

lawyers, witnesses, and jurors will perform their respective functions more 

responsibly in an open court than in secret proceedings."' Waller v 

Georgia, 467 U.S. 39, 46, 104 S. Ct. 2210,81 L. Ed. 2d 31 (1984) (quoting 

Estes v Texas, 381 U.S. 532, 588, 85 S. Ct. 1628, 14 L. Ed. 2d 543 (1965) 

(Harlan, J., concurring)). 

.wise: 

As this Court noted in another decision issued the same day as 

The right to a public trial is a unique right that is important 
to both the defendant and the public. Moreover, assessing 
the effects of a violation of the public trial right is often 
difficult. Requiring a showing of prejudice would 
effectively create a wrong without a remedy. 

State v Paumier, 176 Wn.2d 29, 37, 288 P.3d 1126 (2012) (citations 

omitted). 

Like the accused in a criminal proceeding, the respondent to a civil 

commitment petition faces the prospect of a significant (if not permanent) 

6 "The public, including the press, is entitled to be informed as to the conduct of the 
judiciary and judges. Scrutiny by the public is a check on the conduct of judges and of 
the power ofthe courts." 176 Wn.2d at 310. 

7 Section 10 provides the respondent to a commitment petition the "fundamental 
assurance that her proceedings are observed, scrutinized, and legitimized through 
administration open to the public." 172 Wn.2d at 46. 
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loss of liberty. IlE.E..., 172 Wn.2d at 40. As such, it is just as important to 

encourage judges, lawyers, witnesses and jurors to perform their functions 

responsibly, and to hold the system under which such petitions are 

processed accountable. ld.. The desired result, whether in the criminal or 

civil context, is to reduce the likelihood a person's liberty is wrongly 

curtailed. 

The most recent decision by this Court involving whether 

structural error applies to article 1, section 1 0 violations in the quasi-

criminal8 arena of involuntary commitments proceedings is In re D F F , 

.supra. In D....E..E., this Court unanimously held that MPR 1.3, which 

required automatic closure of involuntary commitment proceedings under 

Chapter 71.05 RCW, violated article 1, section 10. 172 Wn.2d at 41. The 

Court was divided, however, over the proper remedy. The lead opinion 

held the violation was structural and therefore D.F.F. was entitled to new 

commitment proceedings without having to show prejudice. 172 Wn.2d 

42-43 (Sanders, J. plurality). The concurrence opined "structural error" 

did not apply to civil proceedings, but concluded relief was warranted 

because D.F.F. had demonstrated sufficient prejudice. 172 Wn.2d at 48 

(J.M. Johnson, J. concurrence). The dissent agreed the concept of 

8 Se.e In re the Detention of Halgren, 156 Wn.2d 795, 809, 132 P.3d 714 (2006)(noting 
similarities between criminal prosecutions and involuntary commitment proceedings). 
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structural error did not apply in civil cases, and also concluded D.F.F. 

lacked standing to raise the Section 10 violation and also opined, 

"structural error analysis has no place in the civil arena." 172 Wn.2d at 49, 

53 (Madsen, C.J. dissenting, joined by Fairhurst, J. and C.W. Johnson, J.). 

As such, the question remains unsettled.9 

This Court should grant review of the Reyes decision in order to 

definitively answer the question left unanswered in D..EE.; do the significant 

similarities between criminal prosecutions and involuntary civil 

commitment proceedings require that the same protections and remedies 

apply to each in the event of a violation of the public trial doctrine? This is a 

significant question of law under article 1, section 10, and involves an issue 

of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court. Therefore 

review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). 

9 Bll1 s.ee Saleemi v Doctor's Associates Inc, 176 Wn.2d 368, 385-86, 292 P.3d 108 
(20 13)( citing the concurrence and dissents in D....E.E, "Five justices of this court explicitly 
rejected the proposition that the concept of "structural error" had a place outside of 
criminal law."). 
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2. May the appellant of a civil commitment order rely 
on third party standing to challenge the closme of the 
courtroom in violation of article 1, section 1 0_ for the 
first time on appeal? 

Whether the appellant of an involuntary civil commitment order has 

third party standing to raise a public trial violation claim under article 1, 

section 10 for the first time on appeal is another issue left unresolved by this 

Court in D...E...E The lead opinion concluded D.F.F. could rely on both her 

individual rights as well as those of the general. public to raise the argument 

for the first time on appeal. 172 Wn.2d at 39-41. The concurrence, by 

agreeing reversal was required, at least implicitly concluded D.F.F. had 

standing to raise the issue for the first time on appeal. 172 Wn.2d at 47-49 

(J.M. Johnson, J., concurring). The dissent merely assumed D.F.F. had 

standing to make the challenge on behalf of the general public. 172 Wn.2d 

at 49-51 (C.J. Madsen, dissenting). · 

In Reyes, Division Three concluded an involuntary civil committee 

has no absolute right to third party standing to challenge a courtroom closure 

for the first time on appeal. Rather, it held third party standing only applies 

if the appellant was injured in fact by the closure, the appellant had a close 

relationship to the excluded public, and there are barriers to the public's 

ability to protect its own interests. Appendix at 29-30. Although this ruling 
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may comport with the general rule in civil matters, 10 Division Three failed to 

include in its analysis the fact that involuntary civil commitment 

proceedings are quasi-criminal in nature because of the fundamental liberty 

interests at stake. This aspect of involuntary civil commitments proceedings 

sets it apart from almost all other civil proceedings and therefore warrants 

due consideration. 

This Court should grant review of the third party standing decision in 

Reyes. It is significant question of law under article 1, section 10, involves 

an issue of substantial public interest, and was left unresolved in D..E.E 

Therefore, like structural error issue, review of the standing issue is 

warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). 

10 See In re the Guardianship of Cobb, 172 Wn. App. 393,401-02,292 P.3d 772 (2012), 
~ den.is:d, 177 Wn.2d 1017, 304 P.3d 114 (2013)("a litigant may have [third party] 
standing ... where (I) the litigant has suffered an injury-in-fact, ... ; (2) the litigant has a 
close relationship to the third party; and (3) there exists some hindrance to the third 
party's ability to protect his or her own interests."). 
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F. CONCI I JSJON 

For the reasons stated, this Court should grant review. 

DATED this 2-IS'I-day of October 2013. 

Respectfully submitted, 

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 

~---CHRISTOPHER H. GIBSON, 
WSBA No. 25097 
Office ID No. 91051 

Attorneys for Petitioner 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
DIVISION THREE 

IN RE THE DETENTION OF: 
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) 

No. 28167-1-III 

OPINION PUBLISHED IN PART 

KORSMO, C.J.- Does a litigant have standing to assert the public's right to attend 

a motion hearing in a civil case where he did not assert his own right to do so? This 

appeal from a sexually violent predator determination requires us to face this question 

and others concerning the meaning and scope of art. I, § 10 of our state constitution. We 

conclude that the provision creates a right of public access to the courts that can be 

asserted by a litigant in his own behalf, but may not be asserted by the litigant on behalf 

of others (the public). We affirm the bench verdict. 

BACKGROUND1 

While appellant Rolando Reyes was imprisoned for residential burglary, the 

Attorney General petitioned in 2004 to commit Mr. Reyes to the Special Commitment 

Center (SCC) to await trial as a sexually violent predator (SVP). The petition was 

1 The facts and procedure relating to the public trial question are discussed in this 
section, while the factual matters relating to the trial are discussed in the unpublished 
portion of this opinion in conjunction with the analysis of the trial issue. 
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dropped after he was convicted of twice committing custodial assault with sexual 

motivation while at the sec. 

The petition was refiled in 2008 when his 36-month sentence for the two custodial 

assault convictions was ending. He moved to dismiss, arguing that the Attorney General 

lacked authority to bring the petition and that it should not have been filed in Benton 

County. The motion was heard by telephone, with the Assistant Attorney General 

appearing from her office in Seattle. The record reflects that the judge, two attorneys 

representing Mr. Reyes (one ofwhom was then serving as guardian ad litem), and a court 

reporter were present in chambers for the motion hearing.2 After hearing argument, the 

court denied the motion to dismiss. Counsel for Mr. Reyes indicated that they had a 

signed jury trial waiver on hand and asked for the State's telephonic approval of the 

waiver. Counsel for the State noted that she had filed the jury demand and advised the 

court that she would withdraw it at that time. The court accepted the withdrawal. 

Bench trial began nine days later with the initial focus on whether a guardian was 

still needed. That hearing then segued into the commitment trial itself. At the conclusion 

of trial, the judge found that Mr. Reyes was a sexually violent predator and ordered him 

committed to the sec. 

2 It is unclear from the record whether Mr. Reyes was present, although there is no 
reference to him at the hearing. 

2 
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Mr. Reyes timely appealed to this court. His brief challenged the sufficiency of 

the evidence to support the SVP determination and the "closure" of the courtroom at the 

pretrial hearing on his motion to dismiss. This court stayed the appeal pending the 

outcome of State v. Wise, 176 Wn.2d l, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012). After the mandate issued 

in Wise, this court requested supplemental briefing from the parties and then heard oral 

argument. 

ANALYSIS 

We first consider Mr. Reyes's argument that hearing the pretrial motion in the 

court's chambers constituted a courtroom closure in violation of art. I, § 10 of the 

Washington Constitution. His evidentiary sufficiency claim will be addressed in the 

unpublished portion of this opinion. 

The closure argument requires us to address the history of art. I, § 1 0 to ascertain 

its meaning and application to this civil case. That inquiry looks at the language chosen 

by our constitution's framers and its historical antecedents, as well as interpretation of 

that provision over the years.3 We then consider the meaning of the provision in light of 

this history before turning to the question of standing. 

3 To save space this historical review addresses solely Washington Supreme Court 
decisions relating to§ 10 and§ 22. We are quite aware ofthe United States Supreme 
Court decisions involving First and Sixth Amendments access to the courts, and the 
numerous well-reasoned opinions of the Court of Appeals applying the Washington 
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Language and Historical Antecedents 

Art. I, § l 0 was adopted during our 1889 constitutional convention and approved 

by the voters later that year. Then, as now, the provision read: 

§ 10 ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE. Justice in all cases shall be 
administered openly, and without unnecessary delay. 

This provision is found in the first article of our constitution, the Declaration of Rights. 

Also found in that article is § 22, Rights of the Accused. In part, that provision states: 

§ 22 RIGHTS OF THE ACCUSED. In criminal prosecutions the accused 
shall have the right ... to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of 
the county in which the offense is charged to have been committed .... 

The noted language ofthis provision also was enacted in 1889 and was not changed when 

the provision was amended in 1922 to include a venue provision for offenses committed 

in transit. See Amendment 10, 1921 p. 79 § 1. 

There currently are 35 sections to Article I, which is the first ofwhat currently are 

32 articles in the constitution. The provisions of Article I detail individual rights, 

limitations on government power, and the people's political authority including the right 

to recall officials. The very first section declares: 

§ 1 POLITICAL POWER. All political power is inherent in the people, 
and governments derive their just powers from the consent of the governed, 
and are established to protect and maintain individual rights. 

constitutional provisions, but only a few of the most factually relevant of these cases will 
be addressed later in this opinion. Enough trees will die as is. 
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Oregon's Constitution of I 857-Part I (Articles I & II), 3 7 WILLAMETTE L. REv. 469, 516 

(2001). 

The Oregon provision, in tum, was modeled after Indiana's 1851 Constitution. 

Oregonian Pub. Co. v. O'Leary, 303 Or. 297, 302 n.3, 736 P.2d 173 (1987) ("Nearly 

identical language found its way into Article I, section 12, ofthe Indiana Constitution of 

1851, on which Article I, section 10, ofthe Oregon Constitution was based.") (citing 

Palmer, The Sources ofthe Oregon Constitution, 5 OR. L. REv. 200,201 (1926)). 

The Indiana provision had read: 

All courts shall be open; and every man, for injury done to him in his 
person, property, or reputation, shall have remedy by due course oflaw. 
Justice shall be administered freely, and without purchase; completely, and 
without denial; speedily, and without delay. 

IND. CONST. art. I, § 12 ( 1851 ). 

It is possible to trace the "open courts" language to the early English common law 

following the Magna Carta. The 1851 Indiana provision is nearly identical to that found 

in the 1816 Indiana Constitution.5 Indiana's 1816 Constitution was in tum based on the 

constitutions of Ohio, Kentucky, Pennsylvania, and Tennessee. John D. Barnhart, 

Sources of Indiana's First Constitution, 39 IND. MAG. OFHIST. 55,55 (Issue 1, 1943). 

5 "That all Courts shall be open, and every person, for an injury done him, in his 
lands, goods, person, or reputation shall have remedy by the due course of law; and right 
and justice administered without denial or delay." IND. CONST. art. I, § 11 (1816). 
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. The constitution's remaining articles address the branches of government and 

varying topics from elections and education to compensation of state and public officers. 

Article XXXI, which guarantees equality for the sexes, is the only other article to address 

the rights of individuals. 

The framers drew upon the constitutions of Indiana and Oregon for the text of art. 

I, § 10. THE JOURNAL OF THE W ASHTNGTON STATE CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTION 

1889, at 499 n.l8 (Beverly Paulik Rosenow, ed., 1962) (hereinafter Rosenow).

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