RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jan 10, 2014, 3:00 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 89465-5

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of:

ROLANDO REYES,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

#### STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

SARAH B. SAPPINGTON Senior Counsel WSBA #14514 Criminal Justice Division 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-2019 OID# 91094



#

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Reyes seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) and (5), arguing that the case presents significant questions under the State Constitution, and involves an issue of substantial public interest. App. Br. at 5, 8, 10. Because the issues presented in his Petition do not meet either of the specified criteria for review, this Court should deny review.

# A. Reyes, Having Not Objected To Closure Of The Hearing Below, Cannot Raise It For The First Time On Appeal

Reyes argues that Art. I, Section 10 of the Washington Constitution, which requires that justice "in all cases shall be administered openly,"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals also rejected Reyes' argument that the evidence presented at trial had been insufficient to commit him. That issue is not raised in Reyes' Petition before this Court.

mandates reversal in this case. The Court of Appeals properly rejected this argument. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that Reyes, having not objected below and having failed to show prejudice, could not now demonstrate that the error was "manifest," entitling him to raise an issue for the first time on appeal pursuant to RAP 2.5(a). *Reyes*, 2013 WL 6919773 at \*13. This holding was correct and does not merit review.

Appellate courts may refuse to hear any claim of error not raised at trial, except for claims of "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a). State v. Lyskoski, 47 Wn.2d 102, 108, 287 P.2d 114 (1955). "The underlying policy of the rule is to 'encourag[e] the efficient use of judicial resources. The appellate courts will not sanction a party's failure to point out at trial an error which the trial court, if given the opportunity, might have been able to correct to avoid an appeal and a consequent new trial." State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 217 P.3d 756(2009) citing State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). To meet RAP 2.5(a) and raise an error for the first time on appeal, an appellant must demonstrate (1) the error is manifest, and (2) the error is truly of constitutional dimension. Id., 167 Wn.2d at 98. That is, "the appellant must 'identify a constitutional error and show how the alleged error actually affected the [appellant]'s rights at trial." Id., citing State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007).

Reyes relies upon this Court's conclusion in *State v. Wise*, 176 Wn.2d 1, 15, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012) that a criminal defendant's right to a public trial under Art. I, Section 22 of the Washington Constitution is not waived by a failure to object to closure. But this issue is already presented in *In re Morgan*, WSSC No. 86234-6, currently pending before this Court.<sup>3</sup> It is therefore unnecessary for this Court to grant review in this case in order to consider that issue, and granting the State's pending motion for a stay would preserve the point.

Reyes offers no justification for applying the conclusion reached in a criminal context in *Wise* to a civil commitment hearing that does not implicate Art. I, Section 22. Even fundamental rights afforded criminal defendants can be lost through failure to object, such as double jeopardy and Fifth Amendment claims, as well as the right to be present at all proceedings. *See, e.g., Peretz v. United States,* 501 U.S. 923, 936-37, 111 S. Ct. 2661, 115 L. Ed. 2d 808 (1991). As this Court has previously stated, allowing an appellant to raise a new objection on appeal encourages litigants to mislead the trial court. *State v. Henderson,* 114 Wn.2d 867, 868, 792 P.2d 514 (1990). This case illustrates the danger of such an approach.

Here, Reyes' counsel and GAL actively participated in closed hearing without objection, under circumstances where there is no evidence that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This Court heard argument in *Morgan* on September 17, 2013.

State knew or could have known that the case was being conducted in chambers. Even now, Reyes does not attempt to argue that the closure had any bearing on his eventual trial or indeed even on the outcome of his motion and, as the Court of Appeals noted, he does not argue that the trial court erred in denying his motion. Reyes, 2013 WL 6919773 at \*12 n.22.<sup>4</sup> Reyes simply seeks, post-hoc, to take advantage of a closure that his own attorney and GAL clearly knew about and in which they participated. In seeking a new trial by arguing that the public's rights have been violated, Reyes seeks to "righ[t] a wrong inflicted on the public by providing a new trial to an uninjured individual litigant." *In re D.F.F.*, 172 Wn.2d 37, 50, 256 P.3d 357 (2011) (Madsen, dissenting). Reyes, having not objected below, should not be permitted to raise this issue on appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeals characterized Reyes' motion as "a dispositive motion," Reves 2013 WL 6919773 at \*12. The motion was not truly dispositive because the remedy, had Reyes prevailed, would have been to refile the case in a different county, not to terminate proceedings against Reyes. Reyes based his motion on In re Martin, 163 Wn.2d 501,515, 182 P.2d 951 (2008), in which this Court concluded that the Thurston County Prosecutor lacked the authority to commence a civil commitment proceeding based upon an out-of-state conviction. Id., 163 Wn.2d at 510. While the Martin Court reversed Martin's commitment and remanded the case to the trial court with instructions to dismiss the Thurston County petition, the Court explicitly declined to decide "[w]hich prosecutor could appropriately" file a sex predator petition in the case, (163 Wn. 2d at 506) thereby leaving the State the option—which it exercised—of filing in another county. See In re Martin, 2010 WL 928435; rev. den. 169 Wn.2d 1013, 236 P.3d 206 (2010). Given the fact that Reyes had in fact committed a sexually violent offense in Benton County, a victory on Reyes' part would at most have resulted in the case having been dismissed in Benton County only to be refiled in a different county, not dismissed in its entirety.

#### B. Structural Error Does Not Apply To Civil Cases

Reyes seeks to circumvent the requirement that he show that the error was "manifest" by arguing that, because civil commitment cases can result in a significant deprivation of liberty, this Court should presume prejudice as it would in a case involving structural error under Art. 1, Section 22 and order reversal. Pet. at 5-8. It is well established, however, that structural error applies only to criminal cases, and Reyes is not entitled to relief based on that analysis.

Structural error is error that defies harmless error analysis and "necessarily render[s] a criminal trial fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for determining guilt or innocence." *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 9, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999). By its clear terms, then, "structural error" refers only to criminal cases.

Reyes' argument for review rests in large part on his characterization of SVP proceedings as "quasi-criminal" and as such deserving of the same procedural protections as defendants in criminal actions. Pet. at 7- 10. Contrary to Reyes' characterization, however, no court in this State has ever characterized the sex predator law as "quasi-criminal," nor has any court ever held that identical procedural protections apply. Both this Court and the appellate courts of this state have consistently held that the SVP statute is civil in nature. *In re Pers. Restr.* 

of Young, 122 Wn.2d 1, 23, 857 P.2d 989 (1993); In re Det. of Petersen, 138 Wn.2d 70, 91, 980 P.2d 1204 (1999); In re Det. of Williams, 147 Wn.2d 476, 488, 55 P.3d 597 (2002); In re Det. of Stout, 167 Wn.2d 180, 191, 217 P.3d 1159 (2009).

Washington courts have repeatedly refused to confer upon SVP respondents the same rights as criminal defendants. In re Det. of Ticeson, 159 Wn. App. 374, 380-81, 246 P.3d 550 (2011) (refusing to extend Art. 1, Section 22 rights to SVP respondents), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 72, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). Indeed, Washington courts have refused to confer numerous criminal protections upon SVP respondents, including the Fifth Amendment right against compulsory self-incrimination, the Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses, the ex post facto and double jeopardy clauses, the rule of lenity and the presumption of innocence. See, e.g., Peterson, 138 Wn.2d at 91 (Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights do not attach to civil proceedings under RCW 71.09); Stout, 167 Wn.2d at 369 ("although SVP commitment proceedings include many of the same protections as a criminal trial, SVP proceedings are not criminal proceedings" and the Sixth Amendment right to confrontation is available only to criminal defendants); In re Det. of Mathers, 100 Wn. App. 336, 998 P.2d 336 (2000)(State entitled to summary judgment and pre-trial dismissal of conditional release petition

because the statute is civil); In re Det. Of Cherry, 166 Wn. App. 70, 74, 271 P.3d 259 (2011)(CR 41 governs voluntary dismissal because the statute is civil); In re Det. of Coppin, 157 Wn. App. 537, 238 P.3d 1192 (2010)(pursuant to CR 38, SVP respondent waives right to jury trial by failing to make timely jury demand); Young, 122 Wn.2d at 24-25 (because RCW 71.09 is civil, the ex post facto and double jeopardy clauses do not apply). As the *Ticeson* court indicated, "[t]he SVP statute is resolutely civil." Id. at 381. Reyes' argument that this Court should take review because of the question of the applicability of structural error to civil cases remains "unsettled" after D.F.F. (Pet. at 8) is not well taken. But the matter is not unsettled. In D.F.F., this Court unanimously held that Superior Court Mental Proceeding Rule 1.3, which automatically closed involuntary confinement proceedings to the public, violated Art. 1, Section 10. 172 Wn.2d at 47. Only four members of the Court, however, agreed that this violation was structural in nature. Id. Less than 18 months after D.F.F. issued, this Court, rejecting application of a structural error analysis in another civil case, noted that "[f]ive justices of this court [in D.F.F.] explicitly rejected the proposition that the concept of structural error had a place outside of criminal law." Saleemi v. Doctor's Associates, Inc. 176 Wn.2d 368,385-86, 292 P.3d 108 (2013) (emphasis added). Nor is the question of whether "the same protections and remedies" (Pet. at 8) apply to civil commitment and criminal trials in the event of a Sec. 10 violation "unsettled." Less than a year ago, this Court, noted the "related and often overlapping" rights afforded by Art. I, Section 10 and Art. 1, Section 22, and unambiguously concluded that, where there is no section 22 violation, the remedy is not a new trial. *State v. Beskurt*, 176 Wn.2d 441, 446, 293 P.3d 1159 (2013). That structural error does not apply in civil cases involving violations of Art. I, Section 10 requires no further clarification. This Court should deny review.

# C. Reyes Lacks Standing To Object To The In-Chambers Hearing

Even if this Court were to permit Reyes to raise his objection to the in-chambers proceeding for the first time on appeal, the Court of Appeals correctly determined Reyes lacks standing to raise this issue on behalf of the general public. Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, the test to be applied to determine whether an individual can assert standing on behalf of third parties is well established and was not affected by the plurality opinion in *D.F.F.* This issue does not merit review by this Court.

As noted by the Court of Appeals, this Court has long applied the standing test used by the United States Supreme Court in *Powers v. Ohio*, 499 U.S. 400, 111 S.Ct. 1364, 113 L.Ed.2d 411 (1991). *Reyes*, 2013 WL 6919773 at \*13. That test requires that "[t]he litigant must have suffered

an 'injury in fact,' thus giving him or her a 'sufficiently concrete interest' in the dispute, ... the litigant must have a close relation to the third party, ... and there must exist some hindrance to the third party's ability to protect his or her own interests." *Powers*, 499 U.S. at 410-11.

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that Reyes met none of these requirements (Reyes, 2013 WL 6919773 at \*13) and Reyes concedes that this ruling "may comport with the general rule in civil matters[.]" Pet. at 10. Indeed, this case presents a good example of why the Court, as a policy matter, should not reach a constitutional claim raised on behalf of third parties. As discussed above, the fact that Reyes' motion was heard in chambers did not prejudice Reyes in any way. Nor is there reason to believe that, having foregone the opportunity to open his own proceedings, Reyes is appropriately situated to advocate the alleged rights of third parties to have such proceedings open. Reves does not claim any close relationship with the third parties whose rights he would assert and suggests no hindrance to the ability of those parties to assert their own rights should they choose to do so. Nor has Reyes offered a concrete example of the interests of third parties or explained why those interests cannot be accommodated by a remedy short of reversal of the trial court's order of commitment, such as release of a transcript of the hearing. Finally, as pointed out by the Court of Appeals, where a litigant declines,

"perhaps for tactical reasons," to assert his own right to a public hearing, it makes little sense to allow that litigant to assert someone else's right to attend. *Reyes*, 2013 WL 6919773 at \*14. "This essentially gives a litigant the ability to try the case in his preferred manner (without public scrutiny) but obtain a new trial if things do not go in his favor." *Id*.

While conceding that the Supreme Court's standing test in Powers "may comport with the general rule in civil matters," Reyes argues that the court failed to consider the "quasi-criminal" nature of sex predator proceedings. Pet. at 10. As discussed above, however, sex predator proceedings are civil, and must be analyzed as such. Nor does the plurality decision of this Court in D.F.F. change this result. First, as correctly noted by Division III, the appellant in D.F.F. did not argue, and the court did not address, whether the appellant independently could assert the public's own right to attend the hearing. Reyes, 2013 WL 6919773 at \*14. Moreover, to the extent the standing issue was addressed, the lead opinion in that case "spoke only for four members of the court." Id. The concurrence, which did not address the standing issue, cannot be read to "imply" an opinion on an issue it did not address. See D.F.F., 172 Wn.2d at 47-49. Nor can the dissent be said to "merely assume" D.F.F.'s standing to make the challenge on behalf of the general public. Pet. at 9. In the context of the overall dissent, it is obvious that this "assumption" was made not because the dissenting members

of the Court believed it to be true, but because, even if true, it did not affect the dissent's ultimate conclusion, which was that "the appropriate remedy for aggrieved members of the public following an Art. I, Section 10 violation is the release of transcripts—not a new trial." 172 Wn. 2d at 49.

The Court of Appeals, applying the well-established test for standing set forth in *Powers*, correctly held that Reyes lacks standing to challenge the constitutionality of the in-chambers hearing on behalf of the public. This holding is consistent with well-established law, is unaffected by this Court's decision in D.F.F., and does not merit review by this Court.

#### V. **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth in its stay motion, this Court should stay consideration of Reyes' petition until final resolution of the 10 open courtroom cases currently pending before this Court. If that motion is denied, this Court, for the reasons set forth above, should deny review.